
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE THIRD CIRCUIT 

No. 14-3554 

HEIKO GOLDENSTEIN, 

Appellant, 

V., 

REPOSSESSORS, INC., CHAD LATVAAHO, 
SHADY OAK ENTERPRISES, INC., doing business as 
Premier Finance Adjusters, PHILIP J. HOURICAN & 

WILLIAM MCKIBBIN, 

Appellees. 

Appeal from District Court Order Dated July 17, 2014, 
Granting Defendants' Motion For Summary 

Judgment and Dismissing Plaintiffs Complaint. 

APPELLANT'S REPLY BRIEF 

Robert F. Salvin, Esq. 
PHILADELHIA DEBT CLINIC & 

CONSUMER LAW CENTER 
Two Bala Plaza, Suite 300 
Bala Cynwyd, PA 19004 

215-300-2388 
robert.salvin@outlook.com  

Case: 14-3554     Document: 003111836457     Page: 1      Date Filed: 12/31/2014



Table of Contents 

Introduction. 	 1 

Argument. 	 1 

I. MR. GOLDENSTEIN WAS NOT LIABLE 
TO PAY INTEREST ATARATE 
GREATER THAN 6%. 	 1 

II. THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS 
VIOLATED RICO. 	 8 

III. THE RELEASE IS UNENFORCEABLE. 	 15 

VI. THIS DISPUTE IS NOT GOVERNED BY 
OR SUBJECT TO AN ARBITRATION 
AGREEMENT. 	 17 

Conclusion. 	 18 

Case: 14-3554     Document: 003111836457     Page: 2      Date Filed: 12/31/2014



Table of Authorities 

Cases 

Cash America Net v. Commonwealth ofPennsylvania, 
607 Pa. 432, 8 A.3d 282 (2010). 

Cedric Kushner Promotions, LTD., v. Don King, 
533 U.S. 158 (2001). 

Collins v. Siani's Salvage, LLC, 2014 WL 1244057 
(E.D.Pa. Mar. 24, 2014). 

Durante Bros & Sons v. Flushing Nat. Bank, 
755 F.2d 239, 248 (2d Cir. 1985). 

Genty v. Resolution Trust Corp., 937 F. 2d 899, 
908-09 (3d Cir. 1991). 

Gonzalez v. DRS Towing LLC, No. 12-cv-5 508 
(E.D. Pa., Feb. 28, 2013). 

Grigsby v. Thorp Consumer Discount Co., 127 B.R. 
759 (E.D. Pa. 1991). 

Int'l Diamond Importers, Ltd. v. Singularity 
Clark, L.P., 2012 Pa. Super. 71, 
40A.3d 1261 (2012). 

Jordan v. Kent Recovery Services, Inc., 
731 F. Supp. 652 (D. Del. 1990). 

Kiowa Tribe of Oklahoma v. Manufacturing Tech., 
523 U.S. 751 (1998). 

Lane enterprises, inc. v. Lb foster co., 
700 A.2d 465, 472 (Pa. Super. 1997), rev'd on 
Other grounds, 551 Pa. 306, 710 A.2d 54(1998). 

1 

8 

4,5 

11 

10 

4, 5, 14 

5,6 

12 

17 

5 

Case: 14-3554     Document: 003111836457     Page: 3      Date Filed: 12/31/2014



Malley-Duff& Assoc., Inc. v. Crown Life  Ins. Co., 
792F.2d341, 348 (3dCir. 1985) 11 

Moll v. Lafferty, 302 Pa. 354, 153A.557(1931) .............3 

Mulcahy v. Loftus, 439 Pa. 111, 267A.2d 
872 (Pa. 1970) 3,4 

Pennsylvania Dept of Banking v. NCAS of 
Delaware, LLC, 995 A.2d 422, 437 
(Pa. Commw. Ct., 2010) 3 

Robidoux v. Conti, 741 F. Supp. 1019 (D. R.I. 1990). .............12 

Tayar v. Camelback Ski Corp., 47 A.3d 1190 
(Pa. Supreme Ct. 2012) 17 

Thompson v. Prettyman, 231 Pa. 1, 79A. 874 (1911) .............15, 	16, 	17 

US. v. Biasucci, 786 F.2d 504, 512 (2d Cir. 1986). .............10, 	11 

Statutes 

Federal 

15 U.S.C. § 1692a 7,18 

15 U.S.C. § 1692f 7, 12, 18 

15 U.S.C. § 1692g 12 

15 U.S.C. § 1693k 7 

18, U.S.C. § 1961 8,13 

18, U.S.C. § 1962 13 

Case: 14-3554     Document: 003111836457     Page: 4      Date Filed: 12/31/2014



Pennsylvania 

13 Pa.C.S. § 9602. 

13 Pa.C.S. § 9623(b). 

41 P.S. § 408. 

41 P.S. § 501. 

41 P.S. § 502. 

41 P.S. § 504. 

41 P.S. § 505. 

73 P.S. § 2270.3. 

Miscellaneous 

16 

15, 16, 17 

16 

2, 

2,10 

2,4, 10 

10 

17 

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 241 	 5 

Case: 14-3554     Document: 003111836457     Page: 5      Date Filed: 12/31/2014



Introduction 

Pennsylvania law prohibits the collection of usurious interest, and the 

Pennsylvania Supreme Court specifically held that the Commonwealth's usury laws 

apply to internet lenders, such as Sovereign Lending Solution, LLC. Cash America Net 

v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 607 Pa. 432, 8 A.3d 282, 295 (2010). Defendants' 

arguments are flawed for not adhering to Pennsylvania law. 

Argument 

I. MR. GOLDENSTEIN WAS NOT LIABLE TO PAY INTEREST 
AT A RATE GREATER THAN 6%. 

Repossessors' does not dispute plaintiffs argument that a default totaling 

$9.60 is immaterial, or that Sovereign committed the first material breach by 

misapplying the payments it took from Mr. Goldenstein's bank account. Repossessors 

argues instead that Mr. Goldenstein continued to owe interest at 250% because he failed 

to "reform" the loan agreement by giving notice to Sovereign of an intent to withhold 

usurious interest. Repossessors' argument lacks merit because it ignores the express 

terms of the usury statute and 100 years of Pennsylvania jurisprudence. 

Application of a 6% interest rate to Mr. Goldenstein's loan is automatic 

under Pennsylvania law without him having to do anything to "reform" the loan. 

Repossessors is the party failing to read the usury statute in its entity. Section 501 has 

1 	 Unless the context indicates otherwise, "Repossessors" still refers to both Repossessors, Inc., 
and Premier together. 

1 
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two components. The first component of the statute is directed toward lenders and is an 

absolute prohibition on requiring borrowers to pay usurious interest: 

When a rate of interest for the loan or use of money, exceeding 
that provided by this act or otherwise by law shall have been 
reserved or contracted for, the borrower or debtor shall not be 
required to pay to the creditor the excess over such maximum 
interest rate and. 

41 P.S. § 501 (emphasis added). Under this language, Sovereign was forbidden from 

asking Mr. Goldenstein to pay usurious interest or declaring his loan in default for an 

alleged failure to pay usurious interest. The provision is self executing and absolute. 

The legislature made usury illegal and prohibited lenders from requiring its payment. 

The second component of the statute is directed to borrowers to give them a 

procedure to follow, at their discretion, if they discover they are being billed for usurious 

interest: 

[I]t shall be lawful for such borrower or debtor, at his option, 
to retain and deduct such excess from the amount of such debt 
providing the borrower or debtor gives notice of the asserted 
excess to the creditor. 

41 P.S. § 501 (emphasis added). In this clause, the legislature tells borrowers they have 

the "option" to withhold the usurious portion of a debt payment and how to go about it. 

Whether or not a borrower exercises the option, the first part of the clause always 

prohibits the lender from requiring payment of illegal interest. Pursuant to sections 504 

and 502 of Act 6, the borrower always retains the right to sue the lender to recover any 

overpayment with treble damages. 41 P.S. §§ 504 & 502. 

2 
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The Pennsylvania Supreme Court's two page opinion in Mulcahy v. Loftus, 

439 Pa. 111, 267 A.2d 872 (Pa. 1970), does not support a contrary position. The creditor 

in Mulcahy, obtained a judgment on a note that contained a usurious interest rate, but the 

creditor asked the court to assess damages at the legal rate of 6%. Id., 439 Pa. at 112-13. 

Since the creditor did not include usurious interest in its judgment, the court found the 

borrower's complaint about usury to lack merit. 

In Moll v. Lafferty, 302 Pa. 354, 153 A. 557 (1931), the court had the 

opposite reaction to a creditor who confessed and then repeatedly revived a judgment 

that included usurious interest. The court repeated its doctrine that the usury statute is 

part of the public policy of the Commonwealth that "cannot be evaded by any 

circumvention or waived by the debtor." Id., 302 Pa. at 359, 153 A. at 558. The court 

allowed the judgment, which was final, to be opened because the usury statute "would 

be of little value if it could be evaded by the confession or renewal of a judgment." Id., 

302 Pa. at 360, 153 A. at 559. 

In Pennsylvania Dept. of Banking v. NCAS of Delaware. 

LLC, 995 A.2d 422 (Pa. Commw. 2010), the court held that the Pennsylvania 

Department of Banking lacked statutory authority to require a lender to refund usurious 

interest to borrowers. Id. at 435-37. Although the statute had been amended to 

authorize the Department of Banking to order restitution, the amendment post dated the 

violations at issue, and the court held that the amended statute could not be applied 

3 
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retroactively. Id. There was no question that borrowers had the right themselves to 

obtain actual and treble damages resulting from the payment of usury. Id. at 436 

("Presently, each individual borrower may institute an action against Advance America 

for monetary damages, costs, and attorney fees pursuant to Section 504 of the LIPL, 41 

P.S. § 504"). 

Repossessors cites the district court's opinion in Gonzalez v. DRS Towing, 

LLC, No. 12-cv-5508 (E.D. Pa., Feb. 28, 2013), to support its contention that Mr. 

Goldenstein continued to owe usurious interest absent action on his part to reform the 

loan agreement, but it is not clear that even Gonzalez takes that position. Gonzalez 

mentioned that the debtor did not give notice of withholding to the creditor, but 

ultimately the court found that nonpayment of $2.58 was a default sufficient to support a 

material breach of the loan agreement. Gonzalez, No. 12-cv-5508, at 6 & n.5. 

Mr. Goldenstein would suggest that neither Gonzalez, Collin v. Siani's 

Salvage, LLC, 2014 WL 1244057 (E.D. Pa., March 26, 2014), nor the decision below, is 

persuasive due to their failure to account for Pennsylvania's usury jurisprudence. 

Despite the numerous cases in which the Pennsylvania Supreme Court states that usury 

is unenforceable, the district court decisions do not cite or distinguish them. The only 

case the district court mentions is Loftus, which is not a usury case. In Collins, the 

debtor paid $265.63 in excess of the sum he borrowed, satisfying all of the interest 

legally due at 6%. The only money Mr. Collins owed was usurious interest on the date 
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his car was repossessed. Even though the creditor had no right to require Mr. Collins to 

pay usurious interest, 41 P.S. § 501, the court still found that Mr. Collins defaulted by 

not paying. Meribeth Ghost had paid over $5,000 on a $2,100 loan by the date her car 

was repossessed, App. Vol. II at 272-79 & 284-85, but according to the Collins court, her 

eventual nonpayment would also count as a default. The Gonzalez, Collins, and 

Goldenstein line of cases gives a green light to lenders charging usurious interest rates 

within Pennsylvania despite the strenuous effort of the Pennsylvania legislature and 

Supreme Court to stop them. These cases are contrary to Pennsylvania law and 

inconsistent with the district court's prior decision in Grigsby v. Thorp Consumer 

Discount Co., 127 B.R. 759 (E.D. Pa. 1991). This court needs to correct the error. 

Repossessors is the party supporting its argument by omission. 

Repossessors can only argue that Mr. Goldenstein was in default by omitting the issue of 

materiality. It is black letter law straight from the Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 

241, that only a material failure of performance justifies the termination of a contract. 

An arrearage of $9.60 is not material, and Repossessors does not attempt to argue 

otherwise. 

In Lane Enterprises, Inc. v. LB Foster Co., 700 A.2d 465, 472 (Pa. Super. 

1997), rev'd on other grounds, 551 Pa. 306, 710 A.2d 54 (1998), a party withheld a 

payment of $7,082.22 on a construction contract worth $133,922.40. The court held that 

the shortage was not a material breach, noting among other things that the shortage was 

5 
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only 5% of the total contract price. In the present case, the $9.60 by which Mr. 

Goldenstein may have been behind was only 1.6% of the total due without usurious 

interest. All the creditor needed to do to be paid $9.60 was merely ask for it, which the 

creditor failed to do. 

In actuality, it is not at all clear that Mr. Goldenstein was indebted to 

Sovereign for any amount of money on the date of repossession. Sovereign had already 

taken $415.80 out of Mr. Goldenstein's bank account and pocketed all of the money to 

pay itself usurious interest. Under 41 P.S. §§ 504 & 502, Mr. Goldenstein was 

potentially entitled to an award from Sovereign of three times the amount applied to 

usurious interest, which comes to $1,247.40.2  See Grigsby, 127 B.R. at 764 (awarding 

treble damages mandatory). After accounting for the remaining balance due on the loan,' 

Sovereign was indebted to Mr Goldenstein for $641.44. 

Repossessors' assertion that Mr. Goldenstein was in default and in arrears is 

tenuous, and premised on the false assumption that Mr. Goldenstein was required to pay 

the usurious portion of the loan, which even the Loftus court would agree was not owed. 

Whether or not Mr. Goldenstein had committed a material breach and was in default are 

jury questions, that should not have been decided on summary judgment. Int'l Diamond 

2 	 $415.80 x 3 = $1,247.40 - $605.96 (balance due on loan without usury) = 
$641.44 (surplus in favor of Mr. Goldenstein). 

3 	See supra note 1. 

Case: 14-3554     Document: 003111836457     Page: 11      Date Filed: 12/31/2014



Importers, Ltd. v. Singularity Clark, L.P., 2012 Pa. Super. 71, 40A.3d 1261, 1272 (2012) 

(materiality is question of fact). 

Mr. Goldenstein's failure to maintain an account for preauthorized 

withdraws cannot be a breach of the loan agreement. Under the Electronic Funds 

Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1693k, it is illegal for a lender to condition an extension of 

credit on preauthorized electronic money transfers. Requiring Mr. Goldenstein to make 

his bank account available for automatic ACH withdraws is as illegal as requiring him to 

pay usurious interest. 

In the FDCPA, Congress took special care to impose liability on 

repossession companies in sections 1692a(6) and 1692f(6)(A). 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692a(6) & 

1692f(6)A). There was no need for Congress to enact section 1692f(6)A) if repossession 

companies can escape liability merely by saying they were following orders from a lender. 

All repossession companies act on orders from lenders. The point of the FDCPA is to 

impose liability on repossession companies, so they do not follow lenders blindly, but 

Repossessors admits to doing just that. Repossessors has lenders sign an indemnification 

and hold harmless agreement, App. vol. II at 295-96 (J 18), and then goes about its 

business without regard to whether the repossessions it performs are lawful. 

It is proper under the FDCPA and Pennsylvania law for Repossessors to bear 

liability for taking Mr. Goldenstein's car to enforce the collection of usurious interest. 

None of Repossessors' arguments to the contrary is true to the applicable law. 

7 
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II. THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS VIOLATED RICO. 

Online payday and auto title lending is the face of loan sharking in the 21 St  

Century. Modern loan sharking is not performed by shady people lending money on 

street corners. Illicit lenders have learned that it is safer and more profitable to repossess 

borrowers' cars, or gain access to their bank accounts, than threaten borrowers with 

physical violence. Modern loan sharks reach a mass market online and dress up their 

transactions with contracts that appear legitimate, as they operate under layers of 

anonymity on the internet, while protecting themselves with arbitration clauses, or, in 

this case, protecting itself with an Indian tribe affiliation. These lenders trap their 

victims in endless debt with triple digit interest rates just as their street corner forebears, 

and when acting in Pennsylvania, they are criminals. 41 P.S. § 505. Internet auto title 

lending fits squarely within the spirit and intent of RICO. 

Repossessors' argument that Mr. Goldenstein has not established the 

existence of an enterprise is easily refuted. Mr. Goldenstein's complaint identifies three 

enterprises, consisting of the two corporations, Repossessors, Inc., and Shady Oaks 

Enterprises, Inc., and a third enterprise composed of a combination of the two 

corporations. 

Corporations are statutorily defined as enterprises under 18 U.S.C. § 

1961(5). Cedric Kushner Promotions, LTD., v. Don King, 533 U.S. 158 2001). Each of 

the principals operated their respective corporations through the collection of unlawful 

rsi 
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debt. Mr. Latvaaho operated Repossessors through the collection of unlawful debt by 

agreeing to repossess Mr. Goldenstein's car and assigning the job to Premier (Shady Oak) 

in Pennsylvania. Mr. Hourican operated Premier through the collection of unlawful debt 

by directing Premier's employees to repossess Mr. Goldenstein's vehicle and then collect a 

redemption payment from Mr. Goldenstein consisting of at least $1,800 of usurious 

interest. Mr. Hourican admits that he personally made the decision for Premier to 

repossess Mr. Goldenstein's car. App. Vol. II at 316 & 322 (J 10). Mr. Latvaaho evades 

answering the question of whether he decided for his company to repossess Mr. 

Goldenstein's car, stating instead that Sovereign decided to repossess the vehicle, App. vol. 

II at 295 (J 10), but that is an answer ajuly may not believe. 

Both companies together create a third association-in-fact enterprise, which is 

readily established. Repossessors states that it has a network of affiliated companies to 

perform repossessions throughout the United States, App. Vol. II at 15, 295 (J 11) & 307, 

and both companies admit to being parties to a formal subcontract. Repossessors admits to 

having an ongoing relationship with Premier, and assigning repossessions to Premier when 

it needs one performed within Premier's service area. App vol. II at 295 (J 11). Viewed in 

Mr. Goldenstein's favor, the subcontract evidences a structured relationship between the 

companies from which a jury could infer the existence of an association-in-fact enterprise. 

Many of the repossessions the enterprise performs may be legitimate, but when 

T 
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Repossessors asks Premier to repossess a car in Pennsylvania for Sovereign, the enterprise 

is collecting unlawful debt. 

The subcontract also provides express proof of a conspiracy to operate the 

two companies through the collection of unlawful debt. It is reasonable to infer that the 

subcontract represents a meeting of minds between Mr. Latvaaho and Mr. Hourican to 

have their companies act in concert to repossess Mr. Goldenstein's car to collect unlawful 

debt. 

There is no iiiens rea element associated with a civil action for the collection 

of unlawful debt under RICO. The RICO statute is silent on the issue of iiiens rea. Courts 

hold that there is no separate iiiens rea element required by RICO beyond that specified in 

the predicate offense. Genty v. Resolution Trust Corp., 937 F. 2d 899, 908-09 (3d Cir. 

1991). In this instance, there is no iiiens rea element specified in the RICO statute for the 

collection of unlawful debt. Pennsylvania's usury statute imposes a in ens rea element only 

in its criminal provision. 41 P.S. § 505. Pennsylvania law imposes civil responsibility for 

usury on a strict liability basis. See Id. §§ 502 & 504. Lenders and their agents are 

expected to know the law and follow it. 

The defendants cite US. v. Biasucci, 786 F.2d 504, 512 (2d Cir. 1986), to 

support their assertion that Mr. Goldenstein is required to prove a iiiens rea element, but 

Biasucci is a criminal case in which iiiens rea is usually required. Nevertheless, even the 

10 
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Biasucci court held that a defendant could be criminally convicted for the collection of 

unlawful debt without specific knowledge of usurious interest rates. 

[N]othing in the language of section 196 1(6), which defines the 
elements of unlawful debt collection, the applicable New York 
usury laws, or the policies underlying RICO suggests the 
government must prove that a defendant had knowledge of the 
specific rates being charged on usurious loans. 

Biasucci, 786 F.2d at 513. 

In the present case, the defendants intentionally repossessed Mr. 

Goldenstein's car for an alleged failure to repay money due Sovereign. To the extent 

defendants' were unaware of the usurious nature of Mr. Goldenstein's obligation, it is 

because they were willfully ignorant. After the lender signed the indemnification 

agreement, the defendants carried on without regard to whether Sovereign's loans were 

legal or not. The defendants cannot claim they were unaware of the usury when they were 

unaware by design. Mr. Latvaaho and Mr. Hourican assumed the risk that Sovereign's 

loans could be illegal when they decided to look the other way. Their actions were 

reckless, in that they knowingly disregarded the risk the loan was usurious. Recklessness 

is more than sufficient culpability for the imposition of civil liability. 

The cases the defendants cite are not pertinent. The statute of limitations was 

the issue in Malley-Duff& Assoc., Inc. v. Crown Life Ins. Co., 792 F.2d 341, 348 (3d Cir. 

1985), and the case did not involve collection of unlawful debt. Durante Bros & Sons v. 

Flushing Nat. Bank, 755 F.2d 239, 248 (2d Cir. 1985), did involve a civil claim under 

11 
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RICO for the collection of unlawful debt, but the analysis focused on the statute of 

limitations. Based on the numerous elements a plaintiff must establish to state a claim 

for the collection of unlawful debt, the court concluded that the cause of action was not 

analogous to a usury claim under New York law and decided to apply a longer 

limitations period. Id. In the present case, Mr. Goldenstein has established all of the 

elements referenced in Durante Bros, and iiiens rea is not among the elements the court 

identified. 

Jordan v. Kent Recovery Services, Inc., 731 F. Supp. 652 (D. Del. 1990), is 

not a RICO case. Jordan is an FDCPA case in which the court held that a repossession 

company was only classified as a debt collector for purposes of section 1692f(6), and 

therefore could not be held liable for other FDCPA violations, such as failing to send a 

debt validation notice under section 1692g. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g. In dicta, the court 

stated that the repossession of collateral may be beyond the definition of debt collection 

under the FDCPA. That is an interpretation directly contrary to the text of section 1692f, 

in which repossessing property in the absence of a present right to possession is listed as 

an unfair or unconscionable "means to collect or attempt to collect any debt." 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692f. 

Robidoux v. Conti, 741 F. Supp. 1019 (D. R.I. 1990), is inapposite because 

it did not involve a party that was in the business of lending money. The plaintiff in 

Robidoux brought a RICO claim for the collection of unlawful debt against a party who 

12 
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made a single usurious loan, and was not in the business of lending money. Because the 

defendant was not in the business of lending, the loan did not fit the definition of 

unlawful debt in 18 U.S.C. § 196 1(6). 

Sovereign Lending Solutions is in the business of lending money under 

tribal law that allows it to charge interest at an annual rate up to 390%. App. Vol. II at 

264 (J12.2(f)). Sovereign is specifically in the business of lending at rates in excess of 

Pennsylvania usury law, and thus its loans fit within the definition of unlawful debt 

under 18 U.S.C. § 196 1(6). Section 1962(c) imposes liability on persons who operate an 

enterprise through the collection of unlawful debt, without regard to whether the person 

is also the lender. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). The target of the statute is on the agents who 

use an enterprise to collect unlawful debt, and that is the role occupied by Mr. Latvaaho 

and Mr. Hourican in the present case. 

Repossessing Mr. Goldenstein's car constitutes the collection of unlawful 

debt under RICO. Creditors typically go about collecting debts by taking debtors' 

property. Common collection activities include foreclosing on real estate, garnishing 

pay checks and financial accounts, and repossessing tangible personal property. These 

collection activities go on everyday, all the time, by thousands of creditors, in every 

county in the United States. In RICO, Congress did not provide a specialized definition 

for the term "collection." In the absence of a statutory definition, Congress meant for 

13 
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the term to have its everyday meaning, which includes taking possession of a debtor's 

property. 

The district court in Gonzalez v. DRS Towing, LLC, No. 12-cv-5508, at 7 

(E.D. Pa., Feb. 28, 2013), construed the term "collection" in RICO for the first time and 

held that its meaning was limited to taking possession of currency, but not other forms of 

tangible personal property. Id. ("When Defendant repossessed Plaintiff's Cadillac, he 

was not collecting the debt that Northeastern Title alleged it was owed under the loan 

agreement. Rather, Defendant was repossessing the collateral for that debt"). The court 

did not cite authority for its interpretation or offer a rationale. Under this interpretation, 

a "mobster" who steals a borrower's personal property to satisfy a loan sharking 

obligation would not be engaging in racketeering. Such a result could not possibly be 

consistent with Congressional intent for RICO to be a powerful tool to combat organized 

crime, and should be rejected. In everyday usage, creditors themselves define collection 

by what they do to seek satisfaction of debts. Creditors always ask for payment of cash, 

but when cash is not forthcoming, they take debtors' property. Creditors then use the 

property to obtain cash by selling it. 

When Repossessors took Mr. Goldenstein's car, it was engaging in 

collection activity under RICO. When Repossessors then accepted Mr. Goldenstein's 

cash in satisfaction of the debt, there should be no doubt Repossessors was collecting a 

debt within the meaning of RICO. 

14 
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State law gave Mr. Goldenstein the right to redeem the collateral by 

satisfying his lawful financial obligation to the creditor. 	13 Pa.C.S. § 9623(b). 

Characterizing Mr. Goldenstein's redemption payment as voluntary misses the point. 

Voluntary or not, Repossessors was not allowed to request or accept a payment in excess of 

Mr. Goldenstein's debt. Mr. Goldenstein's obligation on the date of repossession, if 

anything, was $605.69. When Repossessors required a redemption payment of $2,393, 

Repossessors collected unlawful debt. 

The defendants operated their businesses through the collection of unlawful 

debt in violation of Pennsylvania civil and criminal law, and deserve to be held liable 

under RICO. 

III. THE RELEASE IS UNENFORCEABLE. 

The defendants maintain that Mr. Goldenstein's suit is stymied by the 

release he signed, but their position is limited to arguing general principals of law. 

Defendants do not address Mr. Goldenstein's specific arguments. 

Defendants do not address Thompson v. Prettyman, 231 Pa. 1, 5-6, 79 A. 

874, 876 (1911), in which the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that a borrower could not 

release a usury claim. In Prettyman, the court said it would not enforce a release that a 

debtor was required to sign to settle a usurious debt. 

Until the relation of lender and borrower has ceased, the [debtor] 
remains subject to the same pressure and the reason for 

affording him protection against the illegal demands of the 
lender continues to exist. 	. . . 	[I]f the legislative intent to 

15 
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effectively prevent the payment and collection of usury as 
disclosed in the statute is to be fully and completely carried out 
the right of a borrower to pursue the excessive interest must not 
be defeated by permitting the lender to demand and the borrower 
to give a release or other acquittance so long as the lender 
retains the usury. 

Prettyman, 231 Pa. 1, 5-6, 79 A. 874, 876. Waivers are expressly prohibited by the usury 

statute. "Notwithstanding any other law, the provisions of this act may not be waived by 

any oral or written agreement executed by any person." 41 P.S. § 408. In other words, no 

agreement Mr. Goldenstein might sign can make him liable for the payment of interest in 

excess of 6% per annum, or take away his right to recover the excess, notwithstanding any 

other law, such as the law that normally pertains to the validity of releases. 

Repossessors does not address Mr. Goldenstein's argument that the release is 

illegal under the UCC, 13 Pa.C.S. §§ 9602(11) & 9623(b). This argument is straight 

forward. Section 9623(b) specifies that a debtor may redeem collateral by fulfilling his or 

her responsibilities under the loan agreement, and section 9602(l 1) instructs that the 

requirements for redemption under section 9623(b) may not be waived or varied. In this 

instance, Mr. Goldenstein testified that Repossessors sought to vary his redemption rights 

by requiring him to execute a release in addition to paying the money alleged to be due 

under the loan agreement. App. Vol. II at 84-86. Mr. Goldenstein said that Repossessors 

would not accept his payment and return his vehicle until he signed the redemption 

agreement containing the release. Id. The UCC did not allow Repossessors to vary the 

terms of redemption in any manner, yet it appears to be Repossessors' standard operating 
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procedure to require execution of a release as part of every redemption. The release is 

illegal under the UCC. 

Moreover, because Repossessors was required under 13 Pa.C.S. § 9623(b) to 

return the car upon payment, there was no separate consideration to support the release. 

This issue is also addressed by the court in Prettyman, 231 Pa. 1, 4-6, 79 A. 874, 875, in 

which the court found an absence of consideration to support a release where all the funds 

paid to the creditor went to satisfy the debt. There is no language in the release expressing 

an intent to be bound in the absence of consideration. 

Repossessors also fails to address Mr. Goldenstein's argument that the release 

violates the Pennsylvania Fair Credit Extension Uniformity Act ("FCEUA"), 73 P.S. § 

2270.3 et seq., or is an illegal exculpatory contract under Tayar v. Camelback Ski Corp., 47 

A.3d 1190 (Pa. Supreme Ct. 2012). 

IV. THIS DISPUTE IS NOT GOVERNED BY OR SUBJECT TO 
AN ARBITRATION AGREEMENT. 

Sovereign Lending Solutions, LLC, is completely exempt from liability by 

virtue of tribal immunity. Kiowa Tribe of Oklahoma v. Manufacturing Tech., 523 U.S. 751, 

755 (1998). There is no option for relief against Sovereign. Moreover, if Repossessors 

agrees that the Tribe's dispute resolution procedure does not apply to Mr. Goldenstein's 

claims against the defendants, there is no point arguing that Mr. Goldenstein should be 

pursuing relief through that procedure. 
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Mr. Goldenstein's FDCPA claim may only be brought against a repossession 

company. 15 U.S.C. § § 1692a(6) & 1692f(6)(A). The FDCPA applies to debt collectors, 

not creditors. Id. § 1692a(6). Even if Mr. Goldenstein had an option for relief against 

Sovereign Lending Solutions, he has a separate right under the FDCPA to sue 

Repossessors. Id. Whether or not Mr. Goldenstein could pursue a claim against Sovereign 

is irrelevant to the merits of his claim against Repossessors. 

Repossessors' characterization of the Tribe's dispute resolution procedure as 

arbitration is erroneous. The Tribe states that Mr. Goldenstein has no enforceable right to 

relief under its dispute resolution procedure. App. Vol. II at 262 (J 9.3(f)). The Tribe 

grants relief, if any, solely in its discretion as a sovereign nation. Id. 

Conclusion 

The district court's decision dismissing Mr. Goldenstein's complaint should 

be reversed. 

Respectfu11ymjd, 

RobefF. Sin (RFS2522) 
Twa1aaza, Suite 300 
Bala Cyryd, PA 19004 
215-300-2388 
215-271-2820 (fax) 
rfsalvin@hotmail.com  
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Certifications 

I, Robert F. Salvin, Esq., certify to the following: 

1. The body of appellant's brief contains less than 7,000 words as measured 

by the word count function of the LibreOffice Writer word processing program on which 

it is being drafted. 

3. Counsel for the defendants are registered users of the court's electronic 

filing system and will receive service of the brief through that system. 

4. All hard copies of the reply brief will be identical to the electronically 

filed copy. 

5. The digital file containing the brief has been scanned for viruses and 

found not to have any. 

RobejfF. j$In (RFS2522) 
Twa1aaza, Suite 300 
Bala Cy#ryd,  PA 19004 
215-300-2388 
215-271-2820 (fax) 
rfsalvin@hotmail.com  
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